IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC10-2306 Lower Tribunal No.: 1D10-6 Trial Court No.: 16-2006-8519

ANDREAS KECK,

Petitioner,

v.

ASHLEIGH K. EMINISOR,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

SEAN B. GRANAT ASSISTANT GENERAL COUNSEL Florida Bar No.: 0138411 **HOWARD MALTZ DEPUTY GENERAL COUNSEL** Florida Bar No.: 593109 **CINDY A. LAQUIDARA GENERAL COUNSEL** Florida Bar No.: 0394246 Office of General Counsel City of Jacksonville 117 West Duval Street, Suite 480 Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 630-1700 (904) 630-1316 (fax) Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Court has ordered the Clerk of the First District Court of Appeal to file a record of the proceedings below on or before March 1, 2011. Since the deadline for the Petitioner's Initial Brief is February 24, 2011, this brief will cite to the Appendix to this initial brief, containing the relevant documents. References to the Appendix will be designated by citing to the relevant page number and line number (or paragraph number, if appropriate). Example: [App. 320:2-321:16]. Petitioner Andreas Keck will be referred to as "Petitioner" or by name. Respondent Ashleigh Eminisor will be referred to as "Respondent" or by name. The Jacksonville Transportation Authority will be referred to by name or as "JTA." Jacksonville

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. <u>SUMMARY OF THE CASE</u>

This case involves a petition for certiorari from the denial of a motion for summary judgment by an individual employee of a state agency or subdivision based on immunity from suit pursuant to § 768.28(9)(a), Florida Statutes. On August 4, 2005, Respondent Eminisor was struck by a bus driven by Petitioner Keck, and subsequently filed a negligence action, naming the Jacksonville Transportation Authority ("JTA") (the owner of the bus), Jacksonville Transit Management ("JTM") (the corporation acting as employer of record for JTA's drivers and mechanics), and Mr. Keck (the driver of the JTA bus), in his personal capacity, as defendants. [App. 1-7]. Mr. Keck moved for summary judgment, arguing that he was entitled to immunity from suit pursuant to \$768.28(9)(a), Fla. Stat., because: (1) he was an employee of JTM, a corporation wholly-owned by, and acting as an instrumentality of, JTA, a state agency, and (2) he was acting within the scope of his employment at the time of the incident. [App. 17-49].

The trial court denied Mr. Keck's motion, finding that JTA was an "independent establishment of the state," and therefore JTM was a corporation acting primarily as an instrumentality or agency of an independent establishment. [App. 466, \P 2]. Concluding that JTM was not a state agency or subdivision for

purposes of § 768.28, the trial court held that Mr. Keck was not entitled to the immunity afforded to individuals by § 768.28(9)(a). [App. 466-67].

Mr. Keck timely filed a petition for certiorari in the First District Court of Appeal ("First DCA"). The petition invoked certiorari jurisdiction by arguing that the denial of summary judgment caused irreparable harm that could not be remedied on plenary appeal after a final judgment, because Mr. Keck's entitlement to immunity from suit could not be reinstated after a trial, and the trial court's order departed from the essential requirements of law. The First DCA denied the petition on jurisdictional grounds, finding that Mr. Keck was merely a bus driver sued for ordinary negligence, and therefore would not suffer irreparable harm if his entitlement to immunity from suit was reviewed on plenary appeal after the entry of a final judgment. Keck v. Eminisor, 46 So. 3d 1065, 1066-67 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010). Contrary to the language of § 768.28(9)(a) and existing case law, the majority concluded that an employee, officer, or agent of the state would suffer irreparable harm from the denial of immunity from a tort lawsuit only if he/she performed "discretionary public functions." Id. at 1066-67. However, recognizing that § 768.28(9)(a) has been interpreted as providing immunity from suit, and acknowledging contrary decisions by other district courts, the majority certified the following question of great public importance:

Whether review of the denial of a motion for summary judgment, based on a claim of individual immunity under § 768.28(9)(a) without

implicating the discretionary functions of public officials, should await the entry of a final judgment in the trial court?

Id. at 1068.

Dissenting from the decision, but agreeing that the above question should be certified, Judge Wetherell found that the court had jurisdiction to review the petition because Mr. Keck would suffer irreparable harm if required to wait until the end of the trial for appellate review of his claim of immunity from suit. *Id.* at 1068-74. In addition, Judge Wetherell concluded that the trial court's order denying summary judgment should be quashed for departing from the essential requirements of law. *Id.* at 1074-77.

This Court accepted jurisdiction of this case on December 30, 2010.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The undisputed facts before the trial court at summary judgment, establishing Mr. Keck's entitlement to immunity from suit, reveal that Mr. Keck was an employee of JTM, acting in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident; that JTM is a corporation wholly owned by the JTA and acting solely as an instrumentality of JTA, a state agency; and, therefore, JTM is a "state agency or subdivision," as defined in § 768.28, Fla. Stat.

JTA is a state agency, first created by general law in 1971. § 349.03, Fla. Stat. JTA, denoted as the "Authority" in chapter 349 of the Florida Statutes, is defined as a "body politic and corporate, an agency of the state." § 349.02(1)(a),

4

Fla. Stat. In the early 1980's, JTA assumed control and responsibility of the day-to-day operations of Jacksonville's mass transit system. [App. 90:8-91:10]. Prior to JTA's take over, a private corporation employed the system's bus drivers and mechanics, who were unionized and enjoyed the right to strike and participated in a private pension plan. *Id.* While these drivers and mechanics wanted to continue their employment for the transit system, they also wanted to retain their right to strike and to maintain their private pension plan, which would not have been possible had they become state employees. *Id.* Thus, to accommodate these employees, the corporation JTM was created by JTA to serve as an employer of record. *Id.*

JTM is a not-for-profit corporation¹ created by JTA for the sole purpose of providing certain employees the right to strike and the right to maintain a private pension fund. [App. 90:20-91:10, 250:15-251:2]. JTM is wholly-owned by, and entirely encompassed within, JTA, and its sole function and business activity is to provide bus drivers and maintenance workers for JTA; JTM has absolutely no business activity outside of providing services for and to JTA. [App. 67 ¶6(A) and (B), 362:25-363:11, 409:13-15, 280:25-281:13].

¹ JTM is registered with the State of Florida as a not-for-profit corporation. Although it is considered a for-profit corporation for purposes of federal income tax filing, the JTM never realizes a profit. App. 427:25- 428:22, 436.

JTA exercises complete control over JTM's day-to-day operations. This is demonstrated by the exclusive level of supervision and control JTA maintains over JTM employees and their employment conditions. JTA makes ultimate decisions on what work rules will govern the JTM employees. [App. 377:11-19]. JTA establishes the routes that the JTM drivers are to drive and JTA employees directly supervise JTM bus drivers in their day-to-day performance on the road. [App. 68] ¶6 (E)-(G), 259:17-20]. JTA screens and hires all JTM employees and pays all JTM employees' wages, and JTM employees may only be terminated with JTA [App. 149:6-19, 423:19-23, 144:10-16, 357:5-21]. Collective approval. bargaining negotiations between JTM and the labor unions representing JTM employees are directed by JTA and the collective bargaining agreements must be approved by JTA's Executive Director. [App. 274:21-276:25, 288:9-24, 377:4-10, 408:24-409:12].

The extensive and exclusive degree of JTA's control over JTM is also demonstrated by the financial relationship between JTA and JTM. JTA pays all expenses and costs of operating the transit system, including all of JTM's operational costs. [App. 68 ¶6(J)]. JTM has no bank accounts other than a payroll account which is funded by JTA immediately prior to each payroll being paid. [App. 277:20-278:7, 423:19-23]. JTA also pays all JTM employees' pension funds and healthcare benefits. [App. 286:22-287:20, 425-426]. JTA provides all buses,

equipment, and facilities to JTM, and JTM does not own any assets. [App. 68 ¶6(H),(I), and (M)]. JTA is the sole shareholder of JTM stock and JTA's Executive Director is also the Chairman of JTM's Board of Directors. [App. 68 ¶6(N),(O)]. Additionally, a contract between JTA and JTM, governing the services that JTM provides for JTA, establishes that JTA controls JTM. [App. 71-77].

The Respondent offered no facts in opposition to Mr. Keck's motion for summary judgment, and the factual relationship between JTA and JTM is undisputed. [App. 437-464]. The undisputed facts conclusively establish that JTM is not an autonomous corporation; it merely acts as an employer-of-record for the purpose of providing certain employment benefits to certain employees. It is also undisputed that JTA is a "state agency" as specified in § 768.28(2), Fla. Stat.² Because JTM exists solely to support JTA, at JTA's direction, JTM acts as an instrument or agency of JTA. As such, JTM is a state agency as defined in § 768.28(2).

Further, it is undisputed that at the time of the accident, Mr. Keck was acting in the course and scope of his employment with JTM. [App. 41-45].³ The undisputed facts reveal that Mr. Keck is entitled to immunity from this suit, pursuant to 768.28(9)(a), since he was acting in the scope of his employment for

² See § 349.03(1), Fla. Stat. (defining JTA as an agency of the state).

³ Likewise, Respondent does not allege that Keck acted in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a willful or wanton manner, only that he acted negligently. [App 1-7].

a corporation (JTM) acting as an instrumentality of a state agency (JTA).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 768.28(1), Fla. Stat., waives sovereign immunity for governmental entities as to tort actions, implementing a key, bedrock principle of local government. It has long been determined that the best interests of the state lie in ensuring officers, employees, and agents of the state or its subdivisions are personally immune from tort suits, if the challenged act falls within the scope of their employment and was not committed in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a willful and wanton manner. § 768.28(9)(a), Fla. Stat. The exclusive remedy for injury or damage resulting from such an act shall be by action against the governmental entity, the head of such entity in his official capacity, or the constitutional officer who employs the officer, employee, or agent. *Id*.

The denial of personal immunity from suit is recognized in Florida courts as sufficient irreparable injury to justify certiorari review, regardless of the type of work performed by the individual invoking immunity. In the instant case, since the issue was Mr. Keck's entitlement to immunity from suit, this was sufficient to establish irreparable injury to review the denial of his motion for summary judgment: if Mr. Keck must go to trial and wait for a final judgment in order to obtain review of the order denying summary judgment, he would lose his entitlement to immunity from suit. Accordingly, contrary to the majority opinion below, the district court had jurisdiction to review the trial court's order by certiorari.

In addition, the trial court's order departed from the essential requirements of law. The undisputed record shows that, at the time of the conduct at issue, Mr. Keck was either an employee or an agent of the state, as defined in § 768.28, since he was acting in the scope of his employment with JTM, a corporation primarily acting as an instrumentality or agency of a state agency – JTA. Since it is uncontested that his conduct fell within the scope of § 768.28(9)(a), Mr. Keck had immunity from suit, and was entitled to summary judgment in his favor.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>CERTIORARI JURISDICTION EXISTS TO REVIEW THE DENIAL</u> <u>OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE BASIS OF § 768.28(9)(a), FLA.</u> <u>STAT., WHICH PROVIDES IMMUNITY FROM SUIT.</u>

In order to obtain certiorari review of a non-final order, a petitioner must show that the order: (1) would cause irreparable harm that cannot be remedied on appeal, and (2) departs from the essential requirements of law. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Langston*, 655 So. 2d 91, 94 (Fla. 1995); *Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage*, 509 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 1987). Both the majority and the dissent in the case below agree that the first prong of the analysis is jurisdictional, and that the First DCA would not review a petition for certiorari in the absence of a showing of irreparable harm that cannot be remedied on appeal. *Keck*, 46 So. 3d at 1066, 1068. The trial court's order denying Mr. Keck immunity from suit under § 768.28(9)(a) causes him irreparable harm that cannot be remedied on appeal. The majority's conclusion below that Mr. Keck has not shown irreparable harm is based on a misunderstanding of the law on immunity from tort suits under § 768.28(9)(a). The majority opinion below: (A) made an incorrect distinction between qualified immunity of public officials sued for violation of federal civil rights laws, and the immunity of state officers, employees, or agents sued in tort under state law; (B) added words to, or attempted to change the meaning of, the clear and unambiguous language of § 768.28(9)(a), in violation of the principles of statutory construction; and (C) erroneously relied on case law addressing the immunity of governmental entities or the immunity of individuals sued in their official capacity, instead of relying on cases addressing the immunity of parties sued in their personal capacity.

A. <u>Individual Employees of the State or its Subdivisions Are Immune</u> from Liability Based on Sovereign Immunity.

In 1973, the Florida Legislature, pursuant to the authority given by the Florida Constitution, provided a limited waiver of immunity from tort lawsuits. Art. X, § 13, Fla. Const.; § 768.28, Fla. Stat. The waiver applies only to the state and its agencies and subdivisions, which are now liable for the tortious acts of their employees. § 768.28(1), Fla. Stat. The liability is limited to the amounts specified in § 768.28(5), and the case law has established that the state and its subdivisions and agencies are still immune from tort suits concerning discretionary functions.

Carter v. City of Stuart, 468 So. 2d 955, 957 (Fla. 1985); *Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County*, 371 So. 2d 1010, 1022 (Fla. 1979); *Miami-Dade County v. Miller*, 19 So. 3d 1037 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009).

Significant to the instant case, § 768.28(9)(a) specifies that all officers, employees, or agents of the state, or of state subdivisions, remain immune from suit and liability in tort for any act within the scope of employment, unless acting in bad faith, with malicious purpose, or in a wanton and willful manner. § 768.28(9)(a), Fla. Stat. The only remedy available to a plaintiff in such situations is an action in tort against the state, a state subdivision or agency, or an individual officer, employee, or agent, in his/her official capacity.⁴ *Id.* Such a remedy is not available against the employees, agents, or officers, who are immune from suit in their individual capacity. *Id.; see also, McGhee v. Volusia County*, 679 So. 2d 729, 733 (Fla. 1996).

In the instant case, the Respondent sued Mr. Keck, in his individual capacity, under state tort law, for an accident that occurred while Mr. Keck was driving a bus. Since the driving was within the scope of Mr. Keck's employment with JTM, a corporation acting solely as an instrumentality of JTA, a state agency, and it is uncontested that there was neither bad faith, malicious purpose, nor

⁴ State law claims against governmental employees, officers, or agents in their official capacity are in actuality suits against the governmental entity that employs them. *Stephens v. Geoghegan*, 702 So. 2d 517, 527 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997).

wanton and willful conduct, Mr. Keck is entitled to immunity from this action, pursuant to § 768.28(9)(a), Florida Statutes.

B. <u>The First DCA Failed to Recognize that Sovereign Official</u> Immunity, Like Qualified Immunity, is Immunity from Suit.

The majority below in this case wrongly distinguished the end effect of immunity from suit enjoyed by employees of the state or its subdivisions in § 768.28(9)(a), Fla. Stat., and qualified immunity from suit enjoyed by governmental officers in certain federal civil rights claims. The First DCA erroneously concluded that only denials of qualified immunity from federal civil rights claims cause the irreparable harm giving rise to certiorari jurisdiction. There is, however, no logical basis for this conclusion, since the harm is identical: imposing on the employee, and ultimately on the state agency, the burdens and cost of the defense. It is the denial of *any* individual government employee, agent, or officer's immunity from suit that gives rise to such irreparable harm.

State officials have qualified immunity from certain federal civil rights suits for actions taken as part of their discretionary functions, and are entitled to interlocutory appellate review of denials of that immunity. *Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800 (1982). The purpose of this qualified immunity from federal civil rights actions is to allow public officials to carry out their discretionary functions without fear of litigation, when those actions do not infringe upon clearly established rights. *Id.* at 819; *Lee v. Ferraro*, 284 F.3d 1188, 1193 (11th Cir.

12

2002). Since qualified immunity shields public officials from suit, not just from liability, a Court's denial of qualified immunity may be appealed, even in the absence of a final decision, if it is an issue of law. *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 530 (1985).

In Tucker v. Resha, 648 So. 2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), a public official was sued for violations of federal civil rights, and the trial court denied summary judgment on the official's claim of qualified immunity. The First DCA "recognized that [the official's claim of j immunity from suit involves a type of protection that cannot be adequately restored once lost by exposure to trial," and certified a question to the Florida Supreme Court regarding the entitlement to certiorari review. Id. at 1188. The Florida Supreme Court concluded that the denial of summary judgment was subject to certiorari review, because the public official claimed immunity from suit, and that entitlement would be lost without remedy if the case continued to trial on the basis of an erroneous order. Tucker, 648 So. 2d at 1189. The Court explained that "the public official cannot be 're-immunized' if erroneously required to stand trial or face the other burdens of litigation." Id. The Court noted that the immunity from suit protected public officials from undue interference with their duties, and from liability threats that could disable the performance of duties. Id. at 1189-90. While officials have no immunity from lawsuits for violations of federal civil rights laws, unless they can show qualified immunity because they

were performing discretionary functions, Mr. Keck, who is sued only for a state law tort, has full immunity, from the start, for any acts committed in the scope of his employment, without bad faith, malicious purpose, or in a wanton and willful manner. Unfortunately, the majority below erroneously applied the "discretionary functions" standard for qualified immunity to a state law claim of immunity under § 768.28(9)(a). However, § 768.28(9)(a) immunity has no discretionary functions element, and there is no basis for such a requirement for the establishment of irreparable injury for the purpose of certiorari review of a denial of immunity under § 768.28(9)(a).

This Court, in *Tucker*, squarely held that a government employee suffers irreparable harm if forced to erroneously defend himself at trial. This holding was not premised on whether the action taken was a discretionary function, as no possible pertinence could be derived from such a fact. It is the erroneous obligation to defend oneself at trial, when immunity from suit is at issue, that this Court relied upon in its holding in *Tucker*, and that holding remains intact. While *Tucker* involved qualified immunity from a federal civil rights action, it is instructive on the point that a governmental employee, officer, or agent, who enjoys immunity from suit – whether qualified immunity from a state law tort suit – suffers

irreparable harm if forced to proceed to trial without the right to interlocutory review of an order denying summary judgment on the immunity issue.

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