IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANDREAS KECK,

Case No.: SC-10-2306

Lower Tribunal No.: 1D10-6

Petitioner,

v.

ASHLEIGH K. EMINISOR,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

PAJCIC & PAJCIC, P.A.

Stephen J. Pajcic, III

Florida Bar No.: 143485

Thomas F. Slater

Florida Bar No.: 614114

One Independent Drive, Suite 1900

Jacksonville, Florida 32202

Phone: 904-358-8881; Fax: 904-354-1180

Attorneys for Respondent

and

DALE, BALD, SHOWALTER, MERCIER

& GREEN, P.A.

William A. Bald

Florida Bar No. 167466

200 West Forsyth Street, Suite 1100

Jacksonville, Florida 32202

Phone: 904-355-1155; Fax: 904-355-1520

Co-Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not depart from the essential requirements of law in denying Keck's motion for summary judgment. Among all of the different entities described as "state agencies" in § 768.28(2), Fla. Stat., the JTA is plainly an "independent establishment of the state." While corporations primarily acting as

instrumentalities of many types of "state agencies" under § 768.28(2) are defined by the statute to be state agencies for sovereign immunity purposes, corporations acting primarily as instrumentalities of independent establishments of the state are not. The trial court read the statute correctly when it found that JTM, a corporation acting primarily as an instrumentality of an independent establishment of the state (the JTA), is not an agency of the state for sovereign immunity purposes.

Both Keck and the dissenting opinion in the district court of appeal argue for an incorrect rule of statutory construction when they state that the trial court's "hyper-technical interpretation of § 768.02(2) is inconsistent with the principle that § 768.28(2) should be construed in favor of the state because sovereign immunity is the rule, rather than the exception." (Initial Brief, p. 34). That principle arises from the fact that the state was immune under common law and can now be sued only to the extent that it has waived that immunity. As to individual *employees* like Keck, however, the rule is exactly the opposite. Until the 1980 amendment to § 768.28(9), a government employee could be sued for ordinary negligence just like any other citizen. Therefore, as applied to individual employees, § 768.28 is

² The ancient doctrine of sovereign immunity is based on a theory unique to *governments*. As this Court observed in *Cauley v. City of Jacksonville*, 403 So.2d 379, 381 (Fla. 1981), "Sovereign immunity's roots extend to medieval England. The doctrine flows from the concept that one could not sue the king in his own courts; hence the phrase 'the king can do no wrong."

in derogation of the common law and should be strictly construed against immunity.

There is an inherent contradiction between Keck's status as a private employee for labor relations purposes and his claim that he is a public employee for sovereign immunity purposes. If Keck has sovereign immunity as the employee of a state agency, then his status as the employee of a private employer would become a transparent legal fiction designed to circumvent Florida's constitutional and statutory prohibitions against strikes by public employees. If Keck has the right to strike, then he is not entitled to sovereign immunity.

The case law upon which Keck relies is not dispositive. None of the cited decisions deals with the actual language of § 768.28(2), and none of the cases involves a private employer that was created for the purpose of providing its employees rights they could only have in private employment.

Keck is not entitled to immunity under § 768.28(9), Fla. Stat. as an employee or agent of the JTA. Keck is indisputably an employee of JTM. If JTM is not a state agency for sovereign immunity purposes, Keck cannot circumvent his direct employment by a private corporation by arguing that he is in effect an employee or agent of the JTA.

ARGUMENT

Ι

KECK IS NOT ENTITLED TO SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY, BECAUSE HIS EMPLOYER, JTM, IS NOT DEFINED AS A "STATE AGENCY" UNDER § 768.28(2) (FLA. STAT.).

Keck's argument is essentially this: (1) the JTA is a "state agency" under § 768.28(2), Fla. Stat.; (2) the JTA has complete control over JTM; (3) because JTM acts primarily as an instrumentality of the JTA, it is also an "agency of the state;" and (4) because JTM is an "agency of the state," its employees are immune from suit under § 768.28(9), Fla. Stat. (Petition for Certiorari, p. 21). This argument is flawed, because it fails to recognize *what kind of agency of the state the JTA is*.

Section 768.28(2), Fla. Stat. reads as follows:

(2) As used in this act, "state agencies or subdivisions" include the executive departments, the Legislature, the judicial branch (including public defenders), and the independent establishments of the state, including state university boards of trustees; counties and municipalities; and corporations primarily acting as instrumentalities or agencies of the state, counties, or municipalities, including the Florida Space Authority. (Emphasis added.)

Thus, the statute uses the phrase "state agency" not to describe any particular entity but as an umbrella term that is applied to various specific types of entities. In other words, an entity is only a "state agency" for purposes of § 768.28 if it is one of the entities described in § 768.28(2). For this reason Keck's assertion that the JTA is a

"state agency" under § 768.28 merely because Chapter 349, Fla. Stat. calls it "an agency of the state" is incorrect. The status of the JTA, and JTM as well, as state agencies for sovereign immunity purposes is governed by § 768.28(2), not a label used in Chapter 349.

Having said that, we agree with Keck that the JTA is a state agency under § 768.28(2), because it is an independent establishment of the state. The more relevant question in this appeal, however, is whether JTM, Keck's employer, is a state agency. The answer to this question depends on what type of state agency the JTA is. Section 768.28(2) confers the status of a state agency or subdivision on two classes of entities. The first portion of the statute, ending with the word "municipalities," applies to entities that are actual creatures of the state: the three branches of state government; counties and municipalities; and entities described as "the independent establishments of the state." This last category perfectly describes independent authorities established by law, such as the JTA.

The second portion of the statute, beginning with the words "and corporations" confers state agency status on private corporations, but only corporations that are "primarily acting as instrumentalities or agencies of the state, counties or municipalities...." What the statute pointedly does not include are corporations primarily acting as agencies of the "independent establishments of the state," a phrase that is not found in the portion of the statute dealing with

corporations. Therefore, under the plain language of the statute JTM, a corporation, is not entitled to sovereign immunity regardless of whether it acts primarily as an agency or instrumentality of the JTA.

The legislature's omission of corporations acting primarily as agencies or instrumentalities of the independent establishments of the state is a recognition of the fact that those establishments are, in a real sense, independent of state and local government. The JTA is an appointed body having no elected members. Chapter 349, Fla. Stat. (2005) gives the JTA broad powers that it can exercise independently of any other agency or subdivision of the state. Those powers include the power to sue and be sued, to buy and sell real and personal property, to borrow money, and to make contracts "of every nature." (§ 349.04, Fla. Stat. (2005). Thus, a private corporation acting as an instrumentality of such an independent body is about as remotely connected with state government as any entity could be. It is perfectly reasonable that the legislature would not wish to extend the umbrella of its sovereign immunity to such an entity.

Keck attempts to gloss over the difficulty posed to his position by the plain language of § 768.28(2) by arguing that JTM is an instrumentality of the JTA, "a state agency." That argument would make sense if § 768.28(2) provided that any corporation acting primarily as an instrumentality of any entity defined as a "state agency" was also a "state agency." That is not, however, what the statute says.

Corporations are afforded sovereign immunity only if they act primarily as instrumentalities of "the state, counties or municipalities."

Keck argues that the trial court's reading of § 768.28(2) is "clearly erroneous" because the third clause of the statute, in addition to omitting the words "independent establishments of the state," also omits reference to the executive department, the Legislature, and the judicial branch. (Initial Brief, p. 33). The obvious flaw in this reasoning is that the executive, legislative, and judicial branches of the state are integral parts of the state government. In essence, they are the state, while independent agencies, such as the JTA, are not. When the third clause includes corporations acting primarily as instrumentalities or agencies of the state, "the state" obviously includes the executive, legislative and judicial branches of government.

II

WHERE, AS HERE, THE QUESTION IS WHETHER AN *EMPLOYEE* IS IMMUNE FROM SUIT, § 768.28 IS IN DEROGATION OF THE COMMON LAW AND MUST BE CONSTRUED STRICTLY AGAINST IMMUNITY.

By characterizing the trial court's reading of § 768.28(2) as "hypertechnical," the dissenting opinion below implicitly recognizes that the language of § 768.28(2) does not include corporations acting as instrumentalities of independent authorities like the JTA within the definition of "state agencies or

subdivisions."³ Nonetheless, the dissent argues, the trial court's construction of the statute was wrong because the applicable rule of statutory construction calls for a *broad interpretation in favor of immunity*. The dissent reasons as follows:

The hyper-technical interpretation of section 768.28(2) adopted by the trial court is inconsistent with the principal that section 768.28 should be construed in favor of the state because sovereign immunity is the rule, rather than the exception. See generally Am. Home Assurance Co. v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp., 908 So.2d 459, 471-72 (Fla.2005); Pan-Am Tobacco Corp. v. Dep't of Corr., 471 So.2d 4, 5 (Fla.1984); Windham v. Fla. Dep't of Transp., 476 So.2d 735, 739 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

(Keck v. Eminisor, 46 So.3d 1065, 1075 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010) (Wetherell J., dissenting)).

We agree that the pivotal issue in this case is the proper construction of § 768.28(2). We agree that the rules of statutory construction apply. However, we respectfully submit that the dissent applies the wrong rule of statutory construction, because it overlooks the fact that this case involves an *employee* who is being sued for *ordinary negligence*. Such employees, even where directly employed by governmental bodies, were not immune from suit at common law. The statutory

³ Otherwise the dissent would have described the trial court's conclusion using words such as "erroneous," "incorrect" or "mistaken." "Hyper-technical" simply means the trial court was reading the statute literally.

⁴ The result was different in cases involving governmental officials carrying out the executive duties of their offices. Under the common law those employees were immune from personal liability. *See*, *e. g.*, *McNayr v. Kelly*, 184 So.2d 428 (Fla. 1966).

grant of immunity to state employees, whether created by the 1980 amendment to \$ 768.28(9) or in the original 1973 version, is, therefore, in derogation of common law and must be strictly construed *against* the immunity of the employee.

As the dissent points out, there was a difference of opinion between this Court and the Legislature as to whether § 768.28(9), as originally enacted, conferred immunity on state employees. In *District School Bd. of Lake Co. v. Talmadge*, 381 So.2d 698 (1980) this Court held that the enactment of § 768.28(9) did not immunize employees. The Legislature then overruled *Talmadge* by amending § 768.28(9), and the legislative history of that amendment indicates that it was intended to correct *Talmadge's* "erroneous interpretation of the statute." (dissenting opinion below, 46 So.3d at 1069).⁵ Regardless of which view was correct, there is no doubt that, as this Court stated in *Talmadge*,

Prior to the enactment of the waiver statute, of course, Florida's public employees had been liable for their tortious acts. See, e. g., *Davis v. Watson*, 318 So.2d 169 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), cert. denied, 330 So.2d 16 (Fla.1976).

(381 So. 2d 698, 700). Keck is, therefore, wrong when he asserts that § 768.28(9) provided that individual employees "remain immune" from suit. (Initial Brief, p. 11). Those employees did not *remain* immune but were granted an immunity that

10

⁵ This Court did not agree that *Talmadge* had been wrongly decided. In *State D. O. T. v. Knowles*, 402 So.2d 1155 (Fla. 1981) it held that the 1980 amendment did indeed change the law and, therefore, could not be retroactively applied.

they never had under common law. Mr. Keck, as a bus driver, was clearly subject to suit under the common law.

It follows that, as applied to Keck, § 768.28 is in derogation of the common law and must be strictly construed against immunity. *Campbell v. Goldman*, 959 So.2d 223, 226 (Fla. 2007); *Ady v. American Honda Finance Corp.*, 675 So.2d 577, 581 (Fla. 1996). Application of that principle dictates that Keck's employer not be deemed to be a state agency unless § 768.28(2) unambiguously so provides.⁶ It does not. The trial court's interpretation of the statute was correct.

Ш

KECK IS NOT ENTITLED TO SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY ON THE GROUND THAT JTM IS AN AGENCY OR INSTRUMENTALITY OF THE STATE, BECAUSE JTM WAS CREATED FOR THE SPECIFIC PURPOSE OF BEING A NON-GOVERNMENTAL BODY.

In its order denying Keck's motion for summary judgment, the trial court found: "It is inconsistent for JTM and Keck to use JTM's private status in labor relations matters while claiming that JTM is a state agency for sovereign immunity

_

⁶ Nor would JTM or even the JTA have been immune under common law from suits arising out of the purely proprietary function of operating a bus system for paying customers. In *Suwannee Co. Hosp. Corp. v. Golden*, 56 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1952), this Court held that, as to paying patients, a corporation formed by a county hospital district was not immune from suit in tort. Thus, § 768.28 was also in derogation of common law with respect to JTM's provision of proprietary services (once performed by the purely private Jacksonville Coach Company), and the trial court's strict construction of the statute was correct as to JTM as well.

purposes." In his brief, Keck admits that JTM's very reason for being was to have a non-public employer for the drivers and mechanics so that they have a legal right to strike. He explains, "While these drivers and mechanics wanted to continue their employment for the transit system, they also wanted to retain their right to strike and to maintain their private pension plan, which would not have been possible had they become state employees." (Emphasis added.) (Initial Brief, p. 5). In other words, for labor relations and pension purposes, Keck takes the position that JTM is not a public employer. Now, Keck asks this Court to make the opposite finding—that JTM is an instrumentality of the state—purely because it suits his interest in this case. This sort of attempt to be both fish and fowl, depending on the exigencies of the situation, has been disapproved by this Court in a case that is analogous to the case at bar.

In *Gulfstream Land & Development Corp. v. Wilkerson*, 420 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1982), this Court considered the question of whether a parent corporation could enjoy the benefits of operating through a subsidiary corporation but then claim that the two corporations were both the employer of the subsidiary's employees for worker's compensation immunity purposes. In that case an employee of the subsidiary corporation brought a personal injury action against the parent. The parent and the subsidiary were covered by the same worker's compensation insurance policy, under which the injured worker had received benefits. The trial

court granted the parent's motion for summary judgment, relying on existing appellate case law that held the parent immune under these circumstances.

The court of appeal reversed the summary judgment, and this Court agreed. It noted that there can be benefits to dividing a business into separate corporate entities, but that an owner that divides his business cannot enjoy the benefits of separateness without accepting the burdens:

We agree that, when the benefits of dividing a business accrue to an owner, reciprocity requires courts to recognize the separate enterprises when sued by an injured employee. Unless the court can find an absolute integration of the two entities, the parent corporation is not the "employer" for purposes of workmen's compensation coverage and is not immune from suit by an injured employee of its subsidiary which results from its own acts of negligence.

(420 So.2d at 589).

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